RECEIVED

Aug 05 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

Appeal From Administrative Law Court

The Honorable Robert L. Riebold, Administrative Law Judge

Appellant Case No.: 2026-001360

Joshua A. Vargo,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy

Respondent,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Bradley Hutto, Esquire (S.C. Bar 6436)
1281 Russell Street
Post Office Box 1084
Orangeburg, SC 29115
Tel: (803) 534-5218
Fax: (803) 536-6544
Email: cbhutto@williamsattys.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Council's finding that Vargo *willfully* provided false, misleading, or incorrect information- the sole basis for permanently denying his certification- is unsupported by substantial evidence, where no witness testified to any false statement, the dispositive interview record was prepared by an absent third party, and the fact-finder itself found Vargo's innocent explanation "plausible" and identified "no direct evidence" of willfulness.
- II. Whether the Council exceeded its statutory authority under S.C. Code Ann. §23-23-80(6) by permanently denying certification based on private conduct that occurred before Vargo was ever a candidate for or holder of a law enforcement certification.
- III. Whether the permanent denial of certification to a decorated ten-year trooper — the most severe sanction available- was arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion, and whether the Council's failure to make any findings on the overwhelming mitigating circumstances forecloses meaningful appellate review.
- IV. Whether this proceeding, commenced more than a decade after the conduct at issue and after the destruction of the polygraph record and the departure of the only percipient interviewer, is barred by laches, waiver, and estoppel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns whether Joshua Vargo — a ten-year veteran of the South Carolina Highway Patrol, named Trooper of the Year for his post five of those ten years (RA 5) — may be *permanently* barred from ever serving as a law enforcement officer in South Carolina because of answers he gave during a pre-employment application process in 2013, before he was hired, trained, or certified.

In 2024, while applying to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED), Vargo voluntarily disclosed on a questionnaire that he had used Adderall a handful of times in college in 2012–2013. (RA 234) SLED forwarded that disclosure to the Department of Public Safety, which compared it against Vargo’s 2013 Highway Patrol application materials and initiated a misconduct proceeding. (RA 227-228) The Department alleged misconduct under S.C. Code Ann. § 23-23-150 arising from (1) a February 2024 leave entry and (2) the 2013 pre-employment answers.

After a contested-case hearing, the Hearing Officer found the Department had *not* proven misconduct on the leave issue and had *not* proven that Vargo willfully made false statements to a law enforcement officer under § 23-23-150(A)(3)(i). (RA 45) The Hearing Officer found only that Vargo willfully provided incorrect information on a form under subsection (k), while expressly acknowledging it was “plausible” that Vargo “did not know what a controlled substance was” and so simply did not come to his mind. (RA 31).

The Law Enforcement Training Council (LETC or Council) nonetheless found misconduct under *both* subsections (i) and (k) and imposed the harshest available sanction —

permanent denial of certification. (RA 13) The leave allegation was abandoned and is not before this Court.

On Vargo's first appeal, the Administrative Law Court (Anderson, C.J.) remanded for the Council to issue specific findings of fact and conclusions of law in compliance with *Porter v. South Carolina Public Service Commission*. (RA 14-22) Without reconvening a hearing, calling the missing witnesses, or developing any new evidence, the Council simply rewrote and re-issued its decision on November 5, 2025, again imposing permanent denial. (RA 13.) The ALC (Reibold, A.L.J.) affirmed on April 28, 2026 (Final Order and Decision pg. 18) and denied rehearing on June 1, 2026 (Order Denying Petition for Rehearing pg 14). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Vargo's exemplary service. Vargo served the Highway Patrol for approximately ten years. (RA 5) He was Trooper of the Year for his post five of those ten years, earned canine and post awards, and received recognition from MADD. (RA 5) Throughout his tenure he was subject to random drug and alcohol screening and never tested positive or had any drug-related issue. The conduct at issue is not any on-duty act; it is limited entirely to statements made before he was hired.

The 2012–2013 conduct. While finishing college, Vargo occasionally used Adderall to study for exams. (RA 234) He graduated college in May 2013 and applied to the Highway Patrol months later.

The 2013 pre-employment paperwork. The Department's case rests on documents completed during the hiring process. The August 19, 2013 online application — generated by the Division of Human Resources, not the Department — asked at Question 14 whether Vargo had "ever used and/or experimented with any controlled substance within the last 10 years (excluding marijuana)." (RA 239) He answered "No." (RA 239) The October 1, 2013 polygraph questionnaire asked whether he had "ever used someone else's prescription drug,". (RA 242) None of the Department's forms ever mentioned Adderall; the SLED form, by contrast, listed Adderall by name — and Vargo disclosed it. (RA 234).

The background interview. During an October 2013 home interview, investigator J.C. Rikard asked about prescription medication not prescribed to Vargo. Rikard — not Vargo — recorded a marginal note, "maybe childhood from mother," and checked neither "yes" nor "no." (RA 94-95) Vargo testified he told Rikard he had used "prescription medication that did not belong to me."

(Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 10) Rikard did not testify; his whereabouts are unknown to the Department.

The missing records. The Department did not preserve the polygraph audio or any transcript, did not call the polygraph administrator, and did not interview or call Rikard. The investigator, Captain Boehm, admitted he never explored whether Vargo understood Adderall to be a “controlled substance.” (RA 37-39)

The findings below. The Hearing Officer found Vargo’s innocent explanation “plausible.” The ALC agreed the explanation was “plausible,” found “no direct evidence of willfulness,” and stated repeatedly that “had it been the trier of fact, it may have reached a different result.” (RA 44-46). It affirmed solely because, under the deferential substantial-evidence standard, it concluded the Council’s contrary inference was also “plausible.” (RA 44-46).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs review of the Council's decision. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5), a reviewing court may reverse or modify an agency decision when the appellant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the findings or conclusions are, among other things, "in excess of the statutory authority of the agency," "affected by other error of law," "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record," or "arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380; *see also* S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Dover, 423 S.C. 153, 813 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 2018) (applying the identical standard on appeal from the ALC). Whether the Council acted in excess of its statutory authority or committed an error of law is reviewed de novo. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.

Substantial evidence "is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case," but evidence that, considering the record as a whole, "would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion" the agency reached. *Bentley v. Spartanburg Cnty.*, 398 S.C. 418, 730 S.E.2d 296 (2012); *Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 467 S.E.2d 913 (1996). Where a factual ruling is "without evidentiary support," it constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 467 S.E.2d 913 (1996) The reviewing court does not reflexively rubber-stamp: an agency's revocation or denial of a professional license will be reversed where, on the whole record, it is "clearly erroneous in light of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence." *Tennis v. S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 355 S.C. 551, 585 S.E.2d 312 (Ct. App. 2003).

ARGUMENT

I. The finding that Vargo *willfully* provided false information is not supported by substantial evidence and cannot stand.

The Council's decision hinges on a single element: willfulness. The statute does not punish an inaccurate answer; it punishes only one who "*wilfully*" makes a false statement to a law enforcement officer, § 23-23-150(A)(3)(i), or "*wilfully* provid[es]" false information on a form, § 23-23-150(A)(3)(k). (Vargo v. South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy at 11) The Department bore the burden of proving that Vargo acted with a deliberate intent to deceive. It did not carry that burden, and the record — as the fact-finders themselves acknowledged — will not bear the weight the Council placed on it.

A. "Willful" requires proof of a deliberate, conscious intent to deceive — not the mere existence of an inaccurate answer.

To properly find that Appellant Vargo willfully engaged in misconduct, the LETC had the duty to satisfy its burden of substantial evidence and establish 1) that Appellant Vargo made a false statement and 2) that Appellant Vargo did so willfully. South Carolina courts have defined "willful" across many contexts, and "[i]n each instance, the court has required a showing of a consciousness of wrongdoing in order to prove willfulness." State v. Garrard, 390 S.C. 146, 700 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 2010) A willful act is "voluntary" and "intentional," "not accidental or involuntary." State v. Garrard, 390 S.C. 146, 700 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 2010) In the administrative setting in particular, "willful" means "intentional," and where the statute demands "willful intention" the Legislature intended a "deliberate intention" or "formed intention." Reeves v. Carolina Foundry & Mach. Works, 194 S.C. 403, 9 S.E.2d 919 (1940). In *Reeves*, the Supreme Court set aside an administrative determination precisely because "[t]here was no evidence of a

deliberate or formed intention.” *Reeves v. Carolina Foundry & Mach. Works*, 194 S.C. 403, 9 S.E.2d 919 (1940). A willful act is one “done voluntarily and intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done.” *State v. Sowell*, 370 S.C. 330, 336, 635 S.E.2d 81, 83 (2006). Black’s Law Dictionary is in accord, defining “willfulness” as “[t]he voluntary, intentional violation or disregard of a known legal duty.” Black’s Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009).

Measured against that standard, the Council’s willfulness finding cannot stand. The Council treated an inaccurate answer as proof of an intent to deceive, but the record supplies no evidence that Vargo acted with a conscious purpose to mislead. As the following sections demonstrate, the fact-finder itself deemed Vargo’s innocent explanation “plausible,” the Department’s own forms never named Adderall, and Vargo disclosed his prior use both to the background interviewer in 2013 and to SLED in 2024 — conduct incompatible with a deliberate scheme of concealment.

That principle in *Reeves* controls here. The question is not whether Vargo’s 2013 answers were, in hindsight, inaccurate. It is whether the Department proved that Vargo gave them with a conscious purpose to deceive. A finding of willfulness supported by “no evidence” of that mental state is an abuse of discretion. *Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm’n*, 321 S.C. 219, 467 S.E.2d 913 (1996); *State v. Garrard*, 390 S.C. 146, 700 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 2010) (where there is no evidence to support a willfulness finding, the ruling cannot stand).

B. There is no evidence — let alone substantial evidence — that any statement to a law enforcement officer was willfully false (§ 23-23-150(A)(3)(i)).

The subsection (i) finding fails at the threshold. Only two people could have received an oral statement from Vargo: the polygraph administrator and the background interviewer, J.C. Rikard. (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 9) Neither testified. (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 10) No law enforcement officer testified that Vargo was heard making any false or incorrect statement. (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 10) The Council built a willfulness finding on a conversation no witness described and no transcript preserved.

The only artifact of the Rikard interview is Exhibit 6 — a form Rikard completed, on which he recorded a marginal note (“maybe childhood from mother”) and checked neither “yes” nor “no.” (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 2) The ALC agreed that Vargo did not complete Exhibit 6 and that it therefore cannot support a subsection (k) violation. (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 14) Having conceded that Exhibit 6 is not Vargo’s document, the Council cannot resurrect it as proof of a willful oral falsehood under subsection (i). The un rebutted testimony is Vargo’s own: that he told Rikard he had used “prescription medication that did not belong to me.” (RA 241-242) Rikard’s decision to leave the box unchecked corroborates that some qualifying disclosure was made. A finding that Vargo willfully lied to Rikard, drawn from a note Rikard wrote and no one can explain, is not “reliable, probative” evidence — it is conjecture. *Tennis v. S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs.*, 355 S.C. 551, 585 S.E.2d 312 (Ct. App. 2003).

C. The written-form findings rest on ambiguous questions the fact-finder itself deemed reasonably misunderstood (§ 23-23-150(A)(3)(k)).

The subsection (k) finding rests on forms completed during the hiring process. These findings are fatally undermined by the very findings the fact-finder made.

Form 1: The online application Question 14 — “controlled substance”. The Hearing Officer expressly found it “plausible” that Vargo “did not know what a controlled substance was.” (RA 9) The investigator admitted he never tested that understanding. (Vargo Final Agency Decision at 3) The form itself conflated “illegal drugs,” “prescription drugs,” and “controlled substance,” and the only modifier was “(excluding marijuana)” — inviting the reasonable reading that the question targeted illicit street drugs. The application does not expressly refer to Adderall. The Administrative Law Court conceded that had it “[b]een the finder of fact in this instance, it may have accepted [Vargo]’s argument.” (Final Order and Decision at 13). An answer that the fact-finder concedes may reflect an honest misunderstanding is not substantial evidence of a *willful* falsehood. Reeves v. Carolina Foundry & Mach. Works, 194 S.C. 403, 9 S.E.2d 919 (1940). It proves, at most, that the Department’s form was imprecise — a deficiency the Department authored and cannot now weaponize against Vargo.

Form 2: The “illegal drugs and narcotics” list (Exhibit 7, Question 7). On Exhibit 7, dated October 1, 2013, Question 7 — under the heading “ILLEGAL DRUGS AND NARCOTICS” — asks whether the applicant has used any of a listed set of “drugs and/or narcotics.” The Department designed this form and had every opportunity to list any substance of particular concern, yet Adderall is not enumerated in that list.

7. Have you ever used any of the following drugs and/or narcotics listed below?

YES () NO ☒

If YES, indicate by circling all that apply to you:

Cocaine	Crank	Crack	Hashish	Hash Oil
Thai stick	Heroin	Opium	Codeine	Morphine
Percodan	Speed	Amphetamine	Valium	PCP
Dilaudid	Barbiturate	Preludin	Methadone	Methaqualone
Quaaludes	Angel Dust	Mescaline	Peyote	LSD
MDA	Ecstasy	Mushrooms	Marijuana	

Sniff: Glue, Paint, Acetone, Greek Joint, Ice, and others.

On the other hand, in the SLED application, exhibit 4 (RA 214), Adderall is listed.

10. Have you ever used/tried any illegal drug(s) other than marijuana or abused any prescription drugs prescribed for yourself or for someone else? YES ☒ NO ()

If YES, circle the appropriate drug(s):

Cocaine	LSD	Amphetamine	Hashish	K2/Spice/Synthetic Marij.
Crack	Heroin	Peyote	Pain Killers	Barbiturates
Rohypnol	Opium	Mushrooms	<u>Oxycontin</u>	Valium
Ketamine	Ecstasy	Sleeping Pills	Hydrocodone	Xanax
Mescaline	Salvia	Methadone	Codeine	Methamphetamine
GHB	PCP	<u>Adderall/Ritalin</u>	Morphine	Other (not listed)

Inhalants: Glue, Paint, Acetone, Nitrous Oxide, or any similar substance

2012 - 2013 A few
(First time) (Last time) (How many times)

On no form did SCDPS ask Appellant about Adderall. SLED did ask about Adderall use on its form, and Appellant readily admitted it. This entire issue could have been avoided if SCDPS had more pointedly asked about Adderall or been clear in making a distinction between drugs and medications. To add to the confusion, three weeks later during the interview, Rikard asked Appellant about "prescribed medication not prescribed to you". (RA 242 Question 16). Appellant admitted to Rikard that he had taken medications that had been prescribed to others. The inconsistent terminology by SCDPS has contributed to the scrutiny Appellant is now being subjected to. To rely on responses to questions on forms that use imprecise and confusing language

as a basis for making a finding of misconduct as defined in S.C. Code Ann. §23-23-150(A)(3)(k), is an abuse of discretion. Appellant should not be penalized because SCDPS's forms lacked probative questions, used ambiguous and confusing terminology, were imprecise, and in one instance were not even completed by Appellant, but by the interviewer who never testified in this case.

Form 3: The polygraph questionnaire ("someone else's prescription drug"). This answer, too, cannot support a willfulness finding, because the Department preserved no evidence of the surrounding polygraph process that would reveal Vargo's intent. More fundamentally, the record shows Vargo *did* proceed to disclose to Rikard that he had used another's prescription medication — conduct irreconcilable with a deliberate scheme of concealment. As Vargo has consistently argued, a person bent on hiding drug use would not give answers inviting the very follow-up that occurred and would not later volunteer the same information to SLED. Administrative Law Court found that this form cannot satisfy the requirements of section §23-23-150(A)(3)(k).

D. The tribunal's own findings — "plausible," "no direct evidence," "may have reached a different conclusion" — confirm the record lacks substantial evidence of willfulness.

The decision below is remarkable for what it concedes. The ALC found Vargo's innocent explanation "plausible," found "no direct evidence of willfulness," and acknowledged that "had it been the trier of fact, it may have reached a different result." (Vargo v. South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy) The Council's inference of willful intent rested entirely on "circumstantial evidence" of supposed motive — that disclosure "would have disqualified him." (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 12)

Motive is not intent. Circumstantial evidence suffices only where “the circumstances ...lead to the conclusion with reasonable certainty” and carry “sufficient probative value to constitute the basis for a legal inference, not for mere speculation.” (Vargo v. SCCJA, Final Order and Decision at 12) A bare inference of motive — untethered to any witness, transcript, or probative account of what Vargo actually intended — does not reach reasonable certainty. It is precisely the “mere scintilla” that the substantial-evidence standard forbids. *Bentley v. Spartanburg Cnty.*, 398 S.C. 418, 730 S.E.2d 296 (2012) Because willfulness “requir[es] a showing of a consciousness of wrongdoing,” *State v. Garrard*, 390 S.C. 146, 700 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 2010), and the record contains “no evidence of a deliberate or formed intention,” *Reeves v. Carolina Foundry & Mach. Works*, 194 S.C. 403, 9 S.E.2d 919 (1940), the misconduct finding is “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record,” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, and must be reversed. This case is *Tennis*, not a case for deference: an agency’s denial of a professional license cannot stand where the record as a whole does not supply “substantial” or “reliable” evidence for it. *Tennis v. S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs.*, 355 S.C. 551, 585 S.E.2d 312 (Ct. App. 2003)

II. The permanent denial rests on private conduct predating any certification and thus exceeds the Council’s statutory authority.

The conduct at issue occurred in 2012–2013, when Vargo was a private citizen who had recently completed college — before he was hired, before he attended the Criminal Justice Academy, and before he held any certification. No allegation concerns his oath of office, his training, or any act during his decade of service.

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