RECEIVED

Sep 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**Appeal from Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Robert L. Riebold, Administrative Law Judge**

Appellate Case No.: 2026-001360

Joshua A. Vargo

Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy,

Respondent,

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

James M. Fennell
General Counsel
Attorney for Respondent
South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy
5400 Broad River Road
Columbia, South Carolina 29212
(803) 896-7722
jfennell@sccja.sc.gov

Donald A. Wood
Attorney for Respondent
South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy
5400 Broad River Road
Columbia, South Carolina 29212
(803) 896-7617

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

Based upon all the evidence received at the hearing and a weighing of such to determine final credibility, there existed and still exists a reasonable probability that Appellant, twice, wilfully provided false, misleading, incomplete, deceitful, or incorrect statements to a law enforcement officer, a law enforcement agency, or a representative of the agency. As such, Appellant has not met his substantial burden of demonstrating that LETC's decision was clearly erroneous.

II. APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING CONVINCINGLY THAT LETC'S FINAL AGENCY DECISION REGARDING THE PROVISION OF A FALSE STATEMENT WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

LETC also made of finding of misconduct against Appellant as per S.C. Code Ann. § 23-23-150(A)(3)(k) – wilfully providing false, misleading, incomplete, deceitful, or incorrect information on a document, record, report, or form. Whether LETC's decision was clearly erroneous depends upon whether it was based upon substantial evidence. An agency's decision is supported by substantial evidence when the record as a whole allows reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the agency. *Friends of Earth v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 387 S.C. 360, 692 S.E.2d 910, 913 (2010). The fact that the record, when considered as a whole, presents the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. *Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1996). Also, Appellant has the burden of proving convincingly that the decision of LETC is not supported by substantial evidence. *Id.*

LETC's finding of misconduct was appropriately derived from evidence related to two separate events during Appellant's hiring process with DPS. In his initial online application, Appellant advised he never used or experimented with a controlled substance within the last ten years (Ex. 6). Later, on another DPS questionnaire, Appellant answered "no" as to whether he had ever used someone else's prescription drug (Ex. 6). These false responses were provided to DPS mere months after the Appellant used Adderall illegally.

In light of these repeated falsehoods, including the false statement addressed earlier, their temporal proximity to the relevant acts and the context in which they were provided, it is perfectly reasonable for LETC, as well as any other reasonable minds, to infer these false responses on the questionnaires were provided willfully and thus demonstrate misconduct as contemplated in the statute.

Even if, as Appellant suggests, he did not know what the technical definition of a “controlled substance” was, that term was only used in one of the questionnaires at issue here. The term “controlled substance” was only used in the initial, online job application (Ex. 5). That term was not used in the polygraph questionnaire which asked, “Have you ever used someone else’s prescription drug?”. (Ex. 6) Any purported ignorance concerning the definition of “controlled substance”, however flimsy, does not provide comprehensive relief from the series of falsehoods provided by Appellant.

Moreover, in the context of applying for a job as a law enforcement officer, it is more likely than not, an applicant would be aware that any criminal activity, especially illegal drug use, would be a significant point of inquiry and require the utmost care in responding to same.

The facts relied upon by the LETC and the logical inferences of willful behavior from those facts support this finding of misconduct as the whole record would allow a reasonable mind to agree with LETC’s decision. Therefore, Appellant has not met his burden of showing LETC’s decision was not based on substantial evidence and, as such, was clearly erroneous.

III. LETC’S USE OF CERTAIN QUESTIONNAIRES TO SUPPORT ITS FINDING COMPORTS TO ANY NOTION OF LEGAL FAIRNESS AND WERE APPROPRIATE CONSIDERATIONS IN REACHING A FINAL AGENCY DECISION

Appellant’s contention that DPS’s application forms and/or questionnaires cannot be the basis of a misconduct charge and finding has no support in the law, is premised on an outlandish characterization of the questionnaires and is not an abuse of discretion. First, Respondent respectfully submits this argument should not receive substantive consideration by this Court because the argument is wholly conclusory and Appellant has not cited any legal underpinning for it. An argument is to be considered abandoned if no legal authority is cited or the argument is wholly conclusory. Please see *Potter v. Spartanburg School Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011); *State v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 27, 35, 698 S.E.2d 237, 241 (Ct. App. 2010); *Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 620, 602 S.E.2d 747, 750 (2004); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994).

Appellant's argument lacks any legal citation and only offers a self-serving conclusion based upon what he cites as facts. As such, it should be considered abandoned and not used as a basis to disturb LETC's Final Agency Decision.

Nonetheless, LETC's decision survives any claim that it was an abuse of discretion. "An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions." *Father v. South Carolina Dept. of Social Services*, 353 S.C. 254, 261, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003). Please see also *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc.*, 346 S.C. 580, 553 S.E.2d 110 (2001).

Appellant has not cited any specific error of law that controlled LETC's decision. That's because there isn't one. Also, LETC's decision is supported by factual conclusions. As noted earlier in this brief, LETC's decision was based upon various factual conclusions drawn from the contested case hearing and/or its own hearing of the matter, along with logical and rational inferences drawn from those facts. Namely, Appellant used Adderall, did not duly report such to DPS during the hiring process and he did so wilfully. While others may not arrive at those same conclusions, that is not the standard for review for this matter. Facts exist which do support LETC's decision and that satisfies the standard of review.

In the final analysis of Appellant's argument, it is apparent we are left with two distinct factual choices. One, being a college graduate, a certified firefighter, and having other certifications relating to hazardous materials and emergency medical responses (RA 235) Appellant could not intellectually grasp a "controlled substance" included a prescribed drug he illegally purchased by the pill from another. This conclusion is very much opposed to Appellant's self-serving assertions about his competency as a law enforcement officer, previous employment and education. The second choice is Appellant understood the relevant questions and decided it would be more prudent to provide a false answer, and he did that time and time again. This is the rational conclusion LETC reached after weighting the evidence.

IV. IT IS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION TO FIND MISCONDUCT FOR EVENTS THAT HAPPENED OVER TEN YEARS PRIOR

Appellant contends the temporal gap between the actual misconduct and the contested hearing and derivative misconduct finding is an abuse of discretion, unfairly prejudiced him and in accordance with the principle of laches, the findings of LETC must be reversed. Again, this argument should not be considered due to a lack of cited legal authority and the issue was not preserved for review. Beyond that, the merits of the argument fail to support Appellant's burden.

An argument is to be considered abandoned if no legal authority is cited or the argument is wholly conclusory. Please see *Potter v. Spartanburg School Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17,24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011); *State v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 27, 35, 698 S.E.2d 237, 241 (Ct. App. 2010); *Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 620, 602 S.E.2d 747, 750 (2004); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994).

Appellant's argument lacks any legal citation and only offers a self-serving conclusion based upon what he cites as facts. As such, it should be considered abandoned and not used as a basis to disturb LETC's Final Agency Decision.

Likewise, this issue should not be reviewed because it is being proposed in an untimely manner. Raising the defense of laches at this point in the proceedings is not allowed and it should not be considered. Only issues raised at the trial court level are capable of appellate review. *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000).

Appellant never specifically cited or raised laches before this appeal. Therefore, this issue was not preserved for appellate review and should not be considered.

This Court may only reverse or modify LETC's final ruling for certain reasons codified in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5). Making a finding the equitable doctrine of laches is available and this matter necessitates this equitable remedy, is not among the reasons allowed by the legislature. Likewise, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-600 and 630 also do not contemplate this Court's use of such an equitable mechanism. *S.C. Dept. of Consumer Affairs v. Foreclosure Specialists, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 182, 700 S.E.2d 468 (2010).

As to the merits of the argument, the facts of this case do not allow the invocation of laches. Appellant must show that DPS unreasonably delayed its assertion of a right, resulting in prejudice to him. *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 650 S.E.2d 465 (2007). Any delay in DPS formally bringing misconduct allegations was due solely to Appellant's obfuscation of the truth during his hiring process. Because of that, any "delay" attributable to DPS was perfectly reasonable.

Further, Appellant has not articulated how he was prejudiced, let alone proven he has been prejudiced by the delay. He speaks of certain records and/or tapes being destroyed. He does not proffer how the absence of those records and/or tapes prejudiced him. He also complains that a certain state employee, J.C. Rikard, was not called as a witness by the state. However, Appellant could have called him as a witness but did not. These circumstances do not amount to prejudice.

Also, the doctrine of laches is inapplicable in this matter because of the predicated acts by the Appellant, who is trying to invoke the remedy. It is a well-known maxim that "he who seeks equity must come with clean hands". Laches is only available as a defense to those who themselves are not guilty of some wrongdoing. This wrongdoing could be behavior that was dishonest and/or fraudulent. *Williams v. Jeffcoat*, 444 S.C. 224, 906 S.E.2d 588 (2024). In this case, Appellant certainly does fit that description. As discussed previously, he willfully provided false information numerous times and those acts precipitated this whole proceeding. Appellant cannot now profit from his initial misconduct. The defense of laches is not available to him.

As to Appellant's abuse of discretion claim, "An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions." *Father v. South Carolina Dept. of Social Services*, 353 S.C. 254, 261, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003). Please see also *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc.*, 346 S.C. 580, 553 S.E.2d 110 (2001).

Appellant has not cited any specific error of law that controlled LETC's decision. That's because there isn't one. Also, LETC's decision is supported by factual conclusions. As noted earlier in this brief, LETC's decision was based upon various factual conclusions drawn from the contested case hearing and/or

its own hearing of the matter, along with logical and rational inferences drawn from those facts. Namely, Appellant used Adderall, did not duly report such to DPS during the hiring process and he did so wilfully. While others may not arrive at those same conclusions, that is not the standard for review for this matter. Facts exist which do support LETC's decision and that satisfies the standard of review.

Last, Appellant's argument regarding the length of time from misconduct to state action goes against the objectives of the relevant statutes passed by the state legislature regarding policing the police. The South Carolina legislature, in passing the relevant statutes creating LETC and giving it significant authority, noted it was doing so "In order to ensure the public safety and general welfare of the people of this State, and to promote equity for all segments of society, a program of training for law enforcement officers and other persons employed in the criminal justice system in this State is hereby proclaimed and this chapter must be interpreted to achieve these purposes principally through the establishment of minimum and advance standards in law enforcement selection and training." S.C. Code Ann. § 23-23-10(A). Further, "It is the intent of the General Assembly in creating a facility and a governing council (LETC) to maximize training opportunities for law enforcement officers and criminal justice personnel, to coordinate training, and to set standards for the law enforcement and criminal justice service, all of which are imperative to upgrading law enforcement to professional status." S. C. Code Ann. § 23-23-10(C) (parenthetical added).

The prosecution of matters related to the suitability of someone to become or remain a certified law enforcement officer is surely a task that cannot be bound by an arbitrary limit in time. As the evidence in this case shows, sometimes relevant issues regarding suitability to be a law enforcement officer may not become apparent for years. Applicants can and do provide false or misleading information. Law enforcement agencies and LETC cannot be forced to waive their abilities to investigate and rule on these important matters when they finally learn of such. Maintaining a professional law enforcement cadre is a matter that requires constant vigilance.

When a relevant issue does appear, it must be addressed as opposed to allowing a questionable individual to continue to perform such an important task – maintaining public safety, perhaps through force and the taking of essential freedoms, while upholding our rights.

**V. A PERMANENT REVOCATION OF A CERTIFICATION
FOR ACTIONS OCCURRING BEFORE THE ISSUANCE OF
THAT CERTIFICATION IS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION
AND IS OTHERWISE LEGAL**

Appellant has put forward categorical objections to the possibility that “a law enforcement license” could be permanently revoked due to actions occurring before the issuance of the license. Appellant contends such a possibility is an abuse of discretion and is an “illegal Constitutional seizure or cruel and unusual punishment.” (Appellant’s Brief, pg 20) Again, this argument should not be considered due to a lack of cited legal authority and the issue was not preserved for review. Beyond that, the merits of the argument fail to support Appellant’s burden.

An argument is to be considered abandoned if no legal authority is cited or the argument is wholly conclusory. Please see *Potter v. Spartanburg School Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17,24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011); *State v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 27, 35, 698 S.E.2d 237, 241 (Ct. App. 2010); *Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 620, 602 S.E.2d 747, 750 (2004); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994).

Appellant’s argument lacks any legal citation and only offers a self-serving conclusion. As such, it should be considered abandoned and not used as a basis to disturb LETC’s Final Agency Decision.

Likewise, this issue should not be reviewed because it is being proposed in an untimely manner. Raising these categorical objections based upon a possible outcome for someone at this point in the proceedings is not allowed and it should not be considered. Only issues raised at the trial court level are capable of appellate review. *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000). This prohibition also includes the untimely raising of constitutional questions

not raised in the trial court. Please see also *Eagerton v. Eagerton*, 265 S.C. 90,96, 217 S.E.2d 146,148 (1975) and *Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 319 S.C. 348, 356, 461 S.E.2d 388, 392 (1995).

Appellant never specifically cited or raised these categorical objections before the Hearing Officer and LETC. Therefore, this issue was not preserved for appellate review and should not be considered.

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